

[image: ]




IT’S IN THE BLOOD


Lawrence Dallaglio







HEADLINE
www.headline.co.uk





Powerhouse of English rugby, Lawrence Dallaglio’s raw strength, determination and passion for the game run in his blood. He lives and breathes rugby.





From slight teenager to the gladiatorial player he is today, Dallaglio is one of the greats. Fiercely loyal to Wasps all his club career, his back-row dynamism and inspirational captaincy have led his team to three consecutive Premiership wins and to lift the Heineken Cup twice.


His England credentials are just as impressive: a winner in the Five Nations, the Six Nations and in the World Cup Sevens, he has represented his country in the last three Lions tours, and he was the only team member to play in every minute of every match of the outstanding 2003 World Cup-winning campaign.


He has a major story to tell.


But Dallaglio’s life off the field is just as compelling. In It’s in the Blood, he reveals everything about the tabloid sting that implicated him in drug dealing and ultimately cost him the England captaincy. He talks about his and his parents’ personal sacrifices to ensure he became the rugby player he was destined to be. And he also uncovers the trauma his family faced at losing Francesca – his only sister – in the Marchioness disaster, an event which remains the greatest sadness of his life. From the closed, private persona to the intelligent, roguish charisma of his public face, Dallaglio finally opens up.
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Foreword



In the beginning, before money and fame and all those lovely things, why did we play competitive sport? We did it to make someone proud, generally our mum and dad. At least that’s why I did it and I know that’s why Lawrence Dallaglio did it. It’s a feeling that produces an emotional performance and down through the years, Lawrence has given us a lot of those. I was going to say what he does on the field comes from his heart, but it’s deeper than that. More like it comes from the heart of his psyche, if you know what I mean.


I’ve known Lawrence since my rugby league playing days. He was starting out with Wasps and I was still with Wigan. Something about the way he played the game appealed. It was his attitude. I was going to say his ‘eff you’ approach to the opposition, but ‘belligerence’ is a nicer word. After the game, no one was more willing to shake your hand, buy you a pint, and because of Lawrence, Wasps became my team in rugby union. I had played union at school. I’d actually captained England Schools at league on Friday night, captained England Schools at union on Monday night and was bollixed on Tuesday. Lawrence was my kind of union player.


Let me explain what it is about him. In every endeavour of any worth, somewhere along the way you want to give in. Lawrence could have given up when his sister Francesca was taken away, he could have stopped when he severed his cruciate ligament and you wouldn’t have blamed him for walking away when he dislocated and fractured his ankle two years ago. But this old bastard won’t die. Do you remember those things we used to punch as kids, how they would crumple but then bounce back up immediately? That’s Lawrence.


He ruptured his cruciate ligament on the Lions tour of 2001 and towards the end of the following season he played his first full comeback match against Leicester at Loftus Road. Out of any sport – football, rugby, cricket – it was the best comeback performance I have ever seen. And like all great players, Lawrence had the ability to make other players look better than they were. If there was one time you wanted him in the team, it was when the chips were down. Like a great heavyweight in a dangerous title fight, he was at his best when it was all on the line.


We forged a close personal friendship, partly because I liked the guy and thought he was a fellow who would have been at home in our Wigan changing room, but also because we have both suffered great personal loss. Lawrence lost his sister, I lost my brother Billy-Joe and only those who have been through it can understand how tragedy affects you. There’s another reason I like Lawrence Dallaglio. One day he helped a woman whose car wouldn’t start in the Wasps car park. At the time he didn’t know that lady was my mother. If somebody helps your mother, you’re not going to forget that. And if somebody is rude to you her, you’re never going to forget that either.


Shaun Edwards, OBE.




Prologue



It is 20 October 2007. The day of the Rugby World Cup final. This evening, for England’s third appearance in a World Cup final, I will start on the bench against South Africa. It is something I am not used to and definitely something I’m uncomfortable with. But hey ho, they don’t allow you to write your own script in this game. You can’t have the fairytale every time.


I’ve been thinking back over the years and I can’t help smiling at how it will end. Almost twelve years ago, 18 November 1995 to be precise, I made my first appearance in an England shirt when coming off the bench against South Africa at Twickenham. Today it is all going to end in the same way, off the bench against the Springboks. Someone up there has a sense of humour and has ensured I will leave by the door through which I entered. With the final just six hours away, it is hard to describe what a rugby career in the England shirt means. Let me recall that first taste of an experience to which I would become addicted. ‘How fast are you, Lawrence?’ England’s head coach Jack Rowell had asked me. ‘Probably one of the fastest forwards,’ I said, suspecting where he was coming from.


‘Do you think you could play open-side?’ he asked.


‘Yeah, sure,’ I said, willingly overlooking the fact that I had virtually no experience in a very specialised position. But I got the result I wanted – Jack named me on the bench against South Africa.


With 18 minutes left, Tim Rodber got injured and I galloped on to that pitch like a young colt having his first run in a paddock. I was 23 and all I wanted was to get my hands on the ball. It was the head-spinning speed of that first international experience that amazed me. There was no time to think, no second to draw breath, and yet I found it exhilarating. I realised my ambition in that I got my hands on the ball and more than once. The only disappointment was that it ended so quickly and walking off the pitch, I thought ‘I’ve got to have more of this. Lots more of it.’


And that’s how it panned out. I went on to play 84 times for England. We won a lot more than we lost, and if I get on the pitch this evening it will be 85 and out. Given that playing for England was what I most wanted from my rugby life, it hasn’t been a bad life. We did okay, had a lot of good players who hit their peak in the years from 2000 to 2003 and after getting ourselves properly organised under Clive Woodward, we didn’t mess up in Australia.


It is 4.30 p.m. and my mobile phone rings. On the screen it says, ‘Private number calling.’ I press the answer button. At the other end, a voice says, ‘Can you speak with Lewis Hamilton?’ A couple of days before, a friend of mine had rung and asked if I would take a call from Lewis on the day of the World Cup final. He wanted to wish the team good luck against the Springboks. This is a young motor racing superstar in the throes of trying to win the Formula 1 World Championship in his debut season and he wants to speak with an England rugby player. ‘Of course,’ I said.


We talk for a few minutes about our mental preparation for major events and I am struck by Lewis’s calm. It is something we share because I’m always pretty chilled out in the lead-up to big games, although for this final, there’s an inner voice wondering if being on the bench isn’t the reason for my calm. I tell myself, ‘No, you’re always like this.’


Because so much of my career has been as a starting player, it has been hard for me to adjust to the bench. A lot of people used to say if you pick Lawrence Dallaglio, you’ve got to make him captain or at least have him as a central figure in the team. It was talk I used to dismiss. ‘I don’t need to be captain, I don’t have to be a leader, I can just play,’ I would say. But I now see what they meant. This is the fourth consecutive time at this World Cup I have started on the bench and it is only in the last couple of games that I have begun to get a proper grip on how to make it work. It’s not as straightforward as starting. I think I had more to offer in this World Cup but you can only give what you are invited to give. My life in rugby has been about setting the tone for the team in the days before a big game, getting everyone into the right frame of mind, but you can only have this influence if you are in the first fifteen.


What this tournament has told me is that there isn’t much wrong with English rugby. Out of adversity, we have become strong. Out of the chaos, the lack of direction, the lack of leadership, we have grown as a team and I have enormous admiration for a group of players who refused to lie down. As I sit here and wonder about all that has gone on over the last three years, the thought strikes me that our achievement in getting to the World Cup final may have been because we were at such a low ebb. At times we felt like a pub team and from there we knew our only chance was if everyone, players and coaches, stayed united. This has been about a group of people who went through a lot of shit but stuck together. I am particularly pleased for guys like Martin Corry, Andy Gomarsall, Mark Regan and Simon Shaw who were on the periphery of the team in 2003 and have been central to the effort in this tournament. I may be envious but did I deserve more from this tournament than them? Definitely not.


In the end, your body or your soul gives in and you can’t do it anymore. My body has been tested to the limit, broken down and built back up again. After winning the World Cup in 2003, people told me it would be a good time to quit. Get out at the top, they said. I was 31 and the lure of playing for England still overwhelmed everything else. The thought of international retirement didn’t even occur to me. If I’m needed for ten minutes or 40 minutes tonight I will be ready. If I don’t get on, if I never play another minute for England, I won’t complain. I have had one hell of a ride. Heading off to the Stade de France, I know there are many who believe I stayed around too long but that view doesn’t bother me in the slightest. What they don’t understand is that when the England flame goes out for me, the rugby flame goes with it.
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Laying the foundations



I have often wondered what it must be like to reach the summit of Everest. You have done all the preparation, got used to the thin air, learned to live with the nausea, and, finally, you are within sight of the goal. As a rugby player, I know adrenalin would take over at that point, obliterating tiredness and almost propelling you forward. I imagine how good it would feel to arrive at the top, and if the day was clear, the view would probably be the most astonishing in the whole world. What could be better than that? I will tell you what. Instead of trekking alone to the summit, you walk alongside your mate. And rather than the satisfaction of making it on your own, you have the greater joy of sharing the experience with someone. If you felt at a low ebb, the other person would be there for you – lifting your spirits, reassuring you, making you laugh, driving you on. In short, inspiring you. Then, on the final drive to the top, you catch that person’s hand and when you actually arrive, you do so as one. For me, that’s far better than doing it alone. And I know that what I have achieved in rugby could never have been achieved alone. Neither would it have been half as much fun without the company of those I played with and against.


Cliff Morgan, the great Welsh fly-half of yesteryear, had a commentator’s voice that made you want to sit around the television when rugby was being shown. Part of the attraction was that wonderful Welsh accent, but it was also his passion for the game. He once likened playing rugby to breaking bread with your fellow man and that image has long stayed in my mind. I’m not sure why. Perhaps it implies a spiritual experience, and for me, rugby has always had that other-worldly dimension. I have broken bread with many, many men, and although we may not see each other that often, there is a bond that remains unaffected by the passage of time. On that wonderful, never-to-be-forgotten Lions tour to South Africa in 1997, our coach Ian McGeechan made the point that in future years we would see each other and there would be instant acknowledgement of something we had shared in the past – one look, he said, was all it would take. He was right.


When I agreed to write this book, it was my hope that the journey through my life would make an entertaining story – I have always loved a good story – but on a more personal level, I also hoped that by revisiting my past I would learn more about myself and maybe get to know some things for the first time. I’m not sure if this has happened but the journey has been interesting and some things are clearer than before.


Born in London, I was brought up in a modest three-bedroomed flat in Barnes, West London, by parents who lived and worked solely for the benefit of their two children – Francesca, my extraordinary sister, and me. Mum and Dad weren’t well off, neither had been to university, but they were willing to work hard and every penny earned was spent on the two of us. Actually, mostly me. Francesca was such a talented dancer that she won a scholarship to Elmhurst School in Camberley, Surrey, where she boarded and spent all the free hours in the day practising ballet and other dance forms that she loved. For me, there was no scholarship to defray the expense of sending me to one of the very best, and most expensive, Catholic boarding schools in the UK – Ampleforth College in North Yorkshire. For my parents, and Mum in particular, I was fulfilling a dream, so they bore the cost of the fees and made sacrifices. Did I repay them adequately with hard work and dedication? No, probably not, and I’m not proud of that fact. But I hope, at least, that since then I’ve made up for that. You would need to ask them.


Why were my parents so willing to make such sacrifices and to place the quality of their lifestyle second? I don’t pretend to be able to get inside the mind of another person, even my parents (although I don’t mind trying to psyche out certain opponents in the name of winning a rugby match). But when I reflect on my childhood, and indeed my own character, I believe a lot of what has happened to me, and what has made me the man I am today – good or bad or a bit of both – stems from my parents. In both of them there is a backbone of passion and determination. Both have a will to succeed, to move forward and overcome the odds to be the best. They appreciate what life has to offer.


I may have developed some of those attributes a little later in life than they, or I, would have wished – certainly some of the key qualities lay dormant until after my schooldays – and we as a family might have been shaken to the very core by events beyond our control, but deep down, they have always been there. They run through my heart and soul and, if I am to do myself and my story justice, I hope they also run through the heart of this book.





On 14 March 1958, my father Vincenzo Dallaglio saw the white cliffs of Dover for the first time. At least, that’s the way he likes to recall his arrival to England. He had travelled by train from his home in Turin to Paris, then on to Calais, and from there he took the ferry to Dover. Aged 23, he had accepted a job as assistant waiter at the Cumberland Hotel in Marble Arch. Vincenzo’s intention was to spend two years in London and become fluent in English, adding to his fluency in Italian, French and Spanish. After London he planned to work in Germany and learn that language. He wanted one day to manage a major international hotel.


Vincenzo was born in 1934 in the Emilia Romagna province of northern Italy. His family moved to Turin when he was 10 months old, and he was still a young boy when his father, Nero, took him to the old Stadio Comunale for the first time to see Juventus play. I remember Dad telling me this the first time he took me to see Chelsea play at Stamford Bridge. He explained that while he respected my decision to follow Chelsea, he was a lifelong Juve supporter. It was all right for fathers and sons to be different – provided the respect was always there.


Vincenzo lived through the Second World War in Turin, where food was in short supply. There is a war story we tell in the family. Vincenzo’s relatives were farmers in Emilia Romagna, so he and his mother would travel from Turin to their cousins in the country and return with food supplies. With no trains or buses running, they hitched lifts, and were generally picked up by lorries. Shortly before the war ended, Vincenzo and his mum were sitting on empty wine vats in the back of a lorry that was taking them back to Turin when a low-flying German plane came shooting towards them. They could see that a machine-gunner was blazing away at vehicles ahead and in an instant the lorry slowed and everyone started jumping for cover. One minute my dad was with his mother, the next moment they were separated and he was seized by panic. Not knowing if he could make the leap from the side of the moving lorry, he tried to climb off and got caught under the wheel, which ran him over, smashing bones, tissue, everything, in fact, except his spine. For three months he lay in a hospital near Parma, hanging on to life by a thread. Then he began to get better, and after six months, he was allowed home. ‘It just wasn’t my turn to go,’ he says in a way that is typical of him.


Vincenzo Dallaglio is as Italian as you could imagine, a lover of fine food, good wine and, as I’ve said, Juventus, and yet he left his home country because he didn’t like what was happening there at the time. He was a good student and had won a scholarship to a secondary school run by the Silesian order of priests in Turin. His father wanted him to go to university but Vincenzo spent his holidays working in hotels and grew up used to being financially independent. Besides that, he wanted to get on with his career. After starting at the Lido in Venice, he worked for a few other Italian hotels before accepting a job at the Hotel Napoleon Bonaparte in Corsica. There he perfected his French and met an Englishman who happened to be the on-call doctor for the Cumberland Hotel in Marble Arch. Through that contact, he got the job in London. He came for two years and stayed a lifetime. He felt that to succeed in Italy, he would have had to be servile and prepared to oil the wheels that ensured you progressed. Vincenzo wanted to be of service to people but he didn’t do subservience. England, he has always said, didn’t demand that.


With his passion for the hotel business, he did well in his new environment and became the first non-English person to be accepted as a trainee manager by Strand Hotels Limited, who owned the Cumberland and many other hotels in London. He stayed nine years at the Cumberland before moving to the Hilton on Park Lane. From there he went to the Nile Hilton in Cairo, then came back to London to various top-class hotels. He then managed an outstanding Spanish restaurant in Swallow Street called Martinez before returning to the hotel business as general manager of the London Metropole. That’s the one I remember because we were moving house at the time and spent six months as a family living in the Metropole on Edgware Road. Mum or Dad would have to drive me to school in Richmond and I would turn up, having had smoked salmon and scrambled eggs for breakfast, with croissants for all my friends at playtime. In the evening I would go to the grill room for dinner and order the lemon sole or the fresh sea bass. For those six months our home was the four-bedroomed Westminster Suite at the top of the hotel. I was 12 and, as you might imagine, already developing a taste for the good things in life. It has never left me.


As a dad, Vincenzo was a disciplinarian and very traditional in the way he tried to differentiate right from wrong. If you transgressed, you had to be corrected. Punishment was a physical beating. Nowadays there is a very different approach to correction as parents try to be more in touch with their children’s lives. My own feeling as a father is that physical punishment just doesn’t work and I have never, and will never, smack any of our children. But I understand my dad was part of a different generation. He also had a fiery nature and, let’s face it, I could be a frustrating kid. I didn’t try very hard at school and ended up hanging around with the guys who saw a ‘Don’t Trespass’ sign as an invitation to enter. Being punished was the price I paid for getting caught, but it didn’t change my behaviour. In that sense, Dad’s approach just didn’t work for me.


Vincenzo wanted what was best for his children. Three months after starting at Ampleforth, I returned home for the Easter holidays. From telephone calls we’d had during my first term there, he knew I was getting into rugby, a sport he knew virtually nothing about. Soon after arriving home, I was in his study and noticed a book on the desk with his half-moon glasses sitting on top. It was a big book called The RFU Guide to the Laws of Rugby Union, or something close to that. I was chuffed that he wanted to find out more about the game that I had started playing seriously for the first time. I went to the living room where he was sitting.


‘I think it’s great that you’ve bought that book,’ I said.


‘Yeah, I really want to understand the game, to learn about it.’


‘Well, I’m glad you bought the book for that, Dad, and didn’t expect me to help you out. I’ve played a few games, but I can’t understand any of it. From what I can see, you make up your own laws as you go along.’


Thinking of those half-moons, I remember they worried me for ages when I was a kid. ‘Why only half? Can’t Dad afford proper glasses? Does he have to wait until he has enough money to buy the top half?’ I guess somewhere at the back of my mind I was actually aware of just how much my parents were giving up for Francesca and me. But I kept it to myself for too long.





Eileen, my mother, has always been a pretty strong character. She was born in the East End of London, the ninth of 10 children in the family of David Henry Marriott. Her mother, my grandmother, Emily, who amazingly died on the day I was born, had strong Irish roots. Mum’s grandfather was a Sullivan from Mallow in County Cork and Mum says that, as a little girl, she remembers a lot of laughter and singing in the family, and a distinct Irish feel. Not surprising, I suppose. If you’ve grown up singing ‘Danny Boy’ and ‘Molly Malone’, you’re hardly likely to feel Scottish. Mum’s six sisters went to work in a textile factory but even though she too started work at 15, she wanted to do something different, and she wasn’t the kind of woman who was easily put off. Her first job was in the accounts department of the local authority in Tower Hamlets. At 17 she became a dental nurse and did that for four years. Then she delivered cars for a company called Car Mart, which helped her to get a job as a chauffeur for Bowaters, the paper manufacturers in Knightsbridge.


When I say my mum wasn’t easily put off, I’m probably understating the situation. She tells a story about how she left Bowaters to become an air hostess. Mum was sitting at the breakfast table one morning when she saw that British United Airways were advertising for air stewardesses, and said to her mother, ‘I think I’ll apply for that.’ William, the eldest in the family, was listening.


‘Why bother?’ he exclaimed. ‘You’ll never get it.’


Of the 10 Marriott children, William was the only one to receive an education and apparently wasn’t shy about mentioning it to his siblings. He rose to the position of Superintendent Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages for the local authority in Stepney, and in the East End that was close to the height of respectability. His dismissal of his sister’s chances of becoming an air stewardess touched a nerve.


‘Why not?’ asked Mum.


‘Someone with your background and lack of education? It’s impossible.’


‘I don’t see why it should be impossible. It’s only a glorified waitress in the air and I present extremely well. I’ll get this job. I’m not even sure I want it but I’m going to apply for it just because you say I won’t get it.’


As a driver for Lord Bowater’s company, Mum was kitted out in a smart uniform with a lovely white silk blouse, and she’d had a photograph of herself taken at Royal Ascot, after chauffeuring Lord Bowater’s friends there. She enclosed the photo with her application to British United Airways, and included a letter saying she was made to be an air stewardess. Always a believer in her mother’s saying that ‘fine feathers make fine birds’, Mum turned up for the interview looking a million dollars and duly got the job.


When Mum met Vincenzo, I bet she decided early on that he was the one. They started going out together in 1961 and got married in 1968. According to Mum, like most men, he didn’t want to be rushed into marriage. (I reckon he must have passed that gene on to me!) Francesca was born in December 1969, at which point Mum had to give up her job with British United Airways, where she had risen to be a senior air stewardess. Two and a half years later, in what was the Hammersmith and Chelsea Hospital (now Queen Charlotte’s), on 10 August 1972 to be precise, I arrived on the scene.


Mum had used the money she’d earned with the airline to start a retail business with her sister Emily, and what began as a newspaper/tobacconist shop in the East End grew into a thriving little supermarket. But after Francesca and I came along it became very difficult for her to stay fully involved in the shop. So she passed it on to her sister Maureen and worked for a time in the gift department of the jewellers Mappin and Webb. She gave that up to be at home when we were young, but once we were going to school, she returned to work with Rediffusion, a company that rented televisions and videos. Mum thrived on this varied working life, and it’s clear she’s a survivor. She was always prepared to battle and do whatever it took to make some money and help provide for her family.





When I was very young, we lived in Pinkney’s Green in Maidenhead, a long way from the East End of London and another reason Mum decided to step back from the shop business. I don’t remember much about the place – just that it was in the country, we had a nice little house and Francesca and I had bikes and used to go horse riding. My dad worked up in London and because of the long and unsocial hours that went with the hotel business, he wasn’t around as much as other kids’ dads. If he was working late and starting early the next morning, he would stay in a flat in Castelnau Mansions in Barnes that he and Mum rented when they were first married. Since the rent was low, and the flat was in a great location on the Barnes side of Hammersmith Bridge, they held on to it after the move to Maidenhead. They then got the chance to buy it for £10,000 because they had been long-term tenants and as that was well below the true value, they snapped it up and we moved in. I was five. They were nice flats that rose to five or six storeys. We were on the third floor and there was a lovely view. After a little while we moved down to a similar flat on the floor below and I remember thinking how exciting that was and how it would be better to have just two flights of stairs to climb.


My greatest memory of childhood is of growing up in a loving and caring family. Francesca was a wonderfully supportive sister – the first person who believed in me – but it wasn’t just my sister. It was also to do with my parents’ backgrounds which made for a heady mix. From a very early age, I remember a home environment with lots of cuddles and lots of love. We were very demonstrative with each other, even in public, which is probably very un-English. I’m sure there’s love in everyone’s family but with us, there was always that outward expression of emotion. When Mum or Dad collected me from school, we would hug, or greet each other in the Italian way, with a kiss on each cheek. I must confess I did have the odd pang of worry about how other people might view this, but it wasn’t sufficient to stop me doing something that came naturally.


Our eating habits were greatly influenced by the fact that we had a Mediterranean dad who had lived with an Indian guy when he first came to London and, as a result, had a very international outlook when it came to food. From an early age, I was aware of different dishes and styles, and even though he worked long and unsocial hours, Dad did a lot of the cooking when he was around. Friends would come round for dinner and be amazed at the care taken over the preparation and presentation, the tastiness and how much there was of it. Dad expected my sister and me to try new things and not turn up our noses without tasting something. There weren’t many things I didn’t like, and it gave me a love of good food that has remained.


Our most memorable holidays were when we went as a family to see my grandparents and cousins in Italy. We would drive to Dover, put the car on the ferry and then drive down through France, into Switzerland for a bit, back into France and then through the Mont Blanc tunnel and into Italy. It was an amazing journey. The magical moment for me was coming out of the tunnel on the Italian side. France is a fabulous country, I love it, but Italy was our destination; it was Dad’s country.


We spent our holidays with my grandparents Nero and Guilia, Dad’s brother Remo and his sisters and, of course, cousin after cousin after cousin. At first I didn’t speak Italian but I began to pick a little up and before long, I could understand what was going on. Granddad (Nonno) and my granny (Nonna) ran a stall in Turin’s main fruit and vegetable market and I was fascinated by the produce on display . . . but not as much as I was by the currency. How could you spend a million lire on fruit in one morning? At first I helped with the unloading of the boxes and did what I was told but eventually I got to work behind the counter. By far the biggest job was convincing myself I wasn’t giving everyone too much change. The Italians amazed me with their attitude to shopping; they actually talked to the sellers about the fruit and vegetables, and they were so happy when the fruit was exactly as they liked it. They could turn their visit to the market into a pleasurable experience, a thing of beauty almost, and a real exchange of views, gossip and news with the people who ran the stalls. Tesco on a rainy Saturday morning it wasn’t.


Inevitably, food played a big part in those holidays. At one family wedding, I remember 18 courses being served throughout the day, in what was the most joyous celebration of family, togetherness and life. Of course, I didn’t want to miss out on anything that was on offer in the food department and proceeded to shovel down as much as I could from the word go, not realising I was involved in a marathon, not a sprint. After two or three dishes I felt certain dessert must be looming, but it wasn’t until after course 12 that the sweet stuff started to appear. I was struggling by that stage, I can tell you, but never one to give up, I focused and kept eating. I’m pretty sure I managed at least the tiniest of tastes of that final cake, or whatever it was, before retiring hurt at six in the evening. I could hardly move out of my seat.


The wedding was a joyous event, but the truth is that everything about family eating in Italy was an occasion and a celebration. Although polenta was our staple food on those holidays, Francesca and I would also make fresh pasta at the table with my mum and my nonna, which we would then pass to my nonno who would roll it out, making sure he got the right texture. Then we’d make spaghetti and spoon in the delicious meat sauce that was usually to be found in a bowl somewhere in the kitchen. It was a lovely way for the family to prepare the evening meal and to feel that everyone belonged. Francesca and I loved it and I hope I’ve instilled some of that feeling of warmth and family in my kids around meal times. It is important, I think.





As little ones, both Francesca and I went to the local Catholic school, St Osmund’s, which was a good state school in Barnes. But three years into my time there, Mum moved me to King’s House school in Richmond, which was a private, boys-only, fee-paying school. I was eight years of age and for the first few mornings my Italian nonno Nero, who was here on holiday, took me on the bus. After that, I went on my own. I wasn’t the kind of kid who wanted anyone holding his hand. The number 33 got me from Barnes to King’s House. These were the old-style buses that you could jump off and on so easily, and you knew every conductor and they knew you. I remember not having the right money at different times and the conductor telling me it was OK, he would see me the following day. If he didn’t have the right change, he would promise to come back with it in a few minutes and he invariably did. There was a lot more trust in those days.


Mum’s decision to send me to King’s House came about because of Francesca’s gift for dancing. For as long as I can remember, Francesca loved to dance and long before she ever had lessons, she moved naturally to the sound of music. A Polish lady called K. K. Lam who lived in our old flat, above us, and was a good friend of Mum’s, saw Francesca dance and was mesmerised by her. ‘We’ve got to get that little girl taught. I’ve got a friend who works for the Royal Ballet,’ she said to Mum. Francesca herself couldn’t wait to have lessons. Mum was unsure because she knew how hard ballet dancers have to work and she reckoned that with Francesca’s personality and physical beauty, there had to be easier ways of getting on in life. But Francesca’s enthusiasm decided it and off she went. After four lessons, the teacher said they were auditioning at the Junior Associates of the Royal Ballet School and Francesca should give it a shot.


One day after school, Mum collected Francesca and me from St Osmund’s and took us to the Royal Ballet School on Talgarth Road. I was six or seven at the time. Parents and kids were everywhere, the mothers trying very hard to make their girls look good. I was just happy to have a bit of space and to run around. Mum has a better memory of the afternoon. She remembers all the other girls wearing pink stockings and having their hair pulled up and tied in ribbons. Francesca just had a black leotard and black ballet pumps. A woman from the Royal Ballet asked if Francesca’s hair was not going to be pulled up and Mum asked if it was necessary. ‘Well, yes,’ the lady said, ‘we have to see the line.’ Borrowing two hair-grips, one for either side, up went the hair in 10 seconds flat. Francesca waited 10th in a line of 12 and as Mum said goodbye to her, she remembers thinking, ‘My God, girl, you still look the part.’


Parents weren’t allowed to watch the auditions, so Mum read a newspaper as I ran around. When Francesca returned and Mum asked her how it went, she said there were four ladies in the room who asked her to go deep into her pliées. Well, Francesca might as well have been speaking Chinese.


‘Pliées?’ said Mum. ‘What are they?’


‘Mummy,’ said Francesca, ‘you must get deep into your pliées or else you can’t dance.’


‘Oh I see,’ said Mum, still not having a clue.


It took time for the auditions to be completed, over 4,000 girls were assessed, and three weeks later, a letter arrived saying she had been accepted. Everyone was thrilled. It was so unexpected. We knew how little training Francesca had had and from that moment, it was obvious she had a special talent. Mum and Francesca talked it over and eventually decided that instead of taking up the Royal Ballet place she would go to a ballet school in Teddington where Susanna Raymond became her teacher. Francesca wanted to be able to concentrate on dancing and frantically set about getting the training and qualifications that would give her a chance of winning a scholarship to a school that specialised in dance. She moved through to senior grade in one year. Mum would whiz her off to dance class at five o’clock, Dad would prepare dinner and have it ready when they arrived home at eight.


Each year the borough of Richmond-upon-Thames awarded three scholarships for Classical Dance and Musical Theatre Arts. Francesca was 10 and determined, and when she won one of them, it meant she could board at Elmhurst Ballet School in Camberley, Surrey. That was going to be her future and Mum felt a little guilty about my progress at St Osmund’s. God bless her, Mum always wanted the very best for us. She used to tell people we were her two jewels. ‘Francesca,’ she’d say, ‘is the diamond that sparkles like the star she will one day be. Lawrence is the emerald, from the Irish side of my family, the green eyes, the love of life and laughter.’ If loving life and laughter meant wanting to have a good time, then Mum’s description is accurate. I didn’t do particularly well at St Osmund’s because for me school was just another place to have fun. I liked all the playing we did at breaks, I loved every sport but saw most of the classes as spoiling the party.


However, when Francesca moved on to boarding school, Mum decided I deserved the chance of a change as well, so off I went to King’s House. In equal measure, I was terrified about the move, because I was leaving all my friends behind, but I fancied getting a new uniform and the longer bus journey was going to be exciting.


One of the things about my journeys on the number 33 was that there were lots of different kids on it, travelling to state schools, and as an eight-year-old in corduroy shorts, grey shirt, blue jumper and grey socks, I certainly wasn’t going to chance sitting upstairs. I whiled away the time looking out of the window, day-dreaming no doubt. One morning early in my time at the school, I missed my stop and panicked, thinking I would miss the whole day at school. So instead of waiting, I launched myself out of the moving bus, using my school satchel as a makeshift surfboard. I was badly cut up, but alive and really relieved to have got off the bus. Had I stayed where I was, I could have got off at the next stop, about 200 yards down the road, and I would still have got to school about 40 minutes before the first lesson. But you don’t think like that when you’re eight years old. At least, I didn’t.


They encouraged us to get to school at eight o’clock even though the first lesson did not begin until 8.45. I think they believed that boys needed to let off some steam, otherwise the first two lessons would be a nightmare. As far as I was concerned, the perfect way to start the day was with half an hour of my favourite sport – football. In my five enjoyable years at King’s House, I did well in most sports, but football was always my number one. Apart from the pure pleasure, sport also allowed me to mix with older boys, which I seemed to want to do anyway. My mother is right when she talks about my love of life, and when I was young, I always wanted to do things sooner than other kids of my age. At the start of my second year at King’s House I was watching guys from the classes above me having a kick-about. Most of them were three or four years older than I was. After a while, their ball got punctured. They looked at me, saw a football under my arm, and said, ‘Hey, can we borrow your ball?’


‘Sure,’ I said, ‘as long as I get to play.’


‘No, no chance. You can’t play, you’re nine.’


‘Well, then, you can’t have the ball.’


‘OK, come on, just don’t get in the way.’


I’d played a lot of football with friends at home in Barnes and without wishing to be cocky, I could hold my own against these older boys. Getting the ball, I went past two or three of them and put it in the back of the net.


‘Where’s that come from, you cheeky little sod?’ one of them said.


I played with those lads every day after that, whether it was my ball or someone else’s, and became friends with some of them.


Hanging around with an older crowd began at an early age and continued right into my rugby career. One of the many things I loved about Francesca was that she would let me come out with her and her friends, even though I was two years younger. A group of us in Barnes had this thing called a ‘bike club’ where we would all meet up on our bikes – big surprise – and head off somewhere. I was allowed along solely because I was Francesca’s younger brother. Actually, I say we’d ‘head off somewhere’ but the reality was that the bike ride was more pretend than real. In truth, we just met up to have a laugh, chase each other around and, if you were lucky, get involved in a little bit of snogging action. Very occasionally we would head out on the bikes.


It’s odd reflecting now on those pre-teenage days. Are patterns set way back that in time shape your life ahead? A passion for sport, independence, older friends, a certain recklessness, a love of larking around, food, family, laughter. My parents’ attitudes gave me my core values, I believe, but after that? Did the environment I grew up in shape me? Or did I shape it to suit myself? God knows. But whatever the longer-term impact, they were happy days. And I’m so glad much of them were spent close to my sister, because that particular happiness was ultimately to be taken away.
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Another suitcase in another theatre



Sometimes, when I’m with friends and we’re passing the Prince Edward Theatre in Soho’s Old Compton Street, I mention the time I used to perform there. ‘You, in the theatre? No chance. Mate, you’re a rugby player,’ one of the lads invariably says. I am a rugby player now but there was a time when I wasn’t and I was paid for singing and performing on stage. Sounds a bit crazy but it’s true. The Prince Edward Theatre holds special memories because that’s where I had my longest run and earned most money for being part of a small choir that performed in Evita. It was all down to an extraordinary guy at King’s House. Michael Stuckey was choirmaster and music teacher and hugely talented. His love for music was infectious.


I was 9 or 10 when I came under his influence at school and I got on with him from the beginning. He had a certain style: he drove an Alfa Romeo car and was obviously a bit of a playboy. He was just a really good guy. As well as that, he saw something in me that he liked and he encouraged me to join the school choir, if only to see how I got on. There were two reasons for being in the King’s House Choir – firstly, it was very good and, secondly, Michael. In the three years that I spent singing with them, it actually became cool to be a member. That, again, was down to Michael. He also taught me the piano and he believed I had a lot of musical potential, but he never forced it on me. He came to our house to talk to Mum and Dad. He told them, ‘I’d really love Lawrence to learn the piano.’ Mum said that with the school fees at King’s House, she would be hard pressed to pay for lessons. He said the money wasn’t important, and he would do it because he wanted me to have the chance. So we arranged a trade-off – Michael would come to the house to give me piano lessons and Dad would cook a fantastic meal. Michael would stay to have dinner with my parents over a bottle of good wine.


As well as his personality and attitude to life, I was also struck by the fact that if Michael liked you, he liked you whether you were right or wrong – our family had great conversations and debates when he was around. I wasn’t the best singer in the world and I often thought Michael wanted me in the choir more because I helped the other kids to interact in a way that made being in the choir a fun experience. I could sing fine but didn’t want to be a soloist and didn’t want to stand out from the others. My approach was to identify someone who consistently sang in tune and stand alongside him. If the person next to you is hitting the wrong notes, it’s very hard to stay in tune. What I really loved about the choir was the opportunities it opened up, the places we got to see and the things we got to do. Michael’s reputation meant that King’s House Choir was highly rated.


In the England rugby team over the last few years, Joe Worsley has had the mickey taken out of him because he likes to play the piano and is good at it. Well, I don’t take the mickey out of Joe for that – maybe for other things but not that – because I envy him and other people who can play properly. Michael used to tell me I had enormous talent for music, especially the piano. I’ve these big hands and I can play reasonably well. Our two daughters, Ella and Josie, have also taken up piano and when I’m showing them where the keys are, their frustration is the same as mine was 25 years ago. They want to get it straight away, and it annoys them when they can’t.


To play really well takes hard work, and frankly I wasn’t prepared to put in the time. For me it just didn’t compare with the fun I had playing football or hanging out with my friends, and I tended to go with what I enjoyed. Even though I didn’t really dedicate myself to the piano, Michael continued to work with me because I think he enjoyed my parents’ company. When the time came for me to go to Ampleforth, Michael could see it was going to be the end of my music. ‘I knew you were going to come to this crossroads,’ he said to me, ‘where it would be music in one direction and sport in another. And you are going to choose sport.’ We stayed in touch and then, one day while I was at Ampleforth, my mum rang to say that Michael had died following a tragic accident. He had choked on his own vomit. I was deeply affected by his death – it made me intensely sad because I thought it was just such a waste of a young and great person. He was 33, and that was too young to die, especially for someone who was so talented and had so much to give.


Michael arranged trips for the choir, and we got to do things that you wouldn’t dream of. I mean, we sang at Andrew Lloyd Webber’s marriage to Sarah Brightman at his house in 1984. We went to Abbey Road Studios and sang the backing track for Tina Turner’s song ‘We Don’t Need Another Hero’. We told our mates who weren’t in the choir that we were recording with Tina Turner but the truth is she recorded on a different day from us. Being in the studio where The Beatles had worked was enough for me, and of course we went to the famous zebra crossing. There was a lot of waiting around at the studio – that’s the way the recording industry works – but it was a fantastic experience. I loved it. A few years ago someone realised we should have been paid for our work on the song, so we all received a royalty payment.


To me, these experiences were what life was about, not a biology class with some teacher trying to interest you in photosynthesis. Another day we had to record an ad for Colgate toothpaste, and one Christmas we were asked to do a carol service at St Paul’s Cathedral. I remember singing the St Matthew Passion at St Paul’s, and you can be as blasé as you like about buildings, but St Paul’s Cathedral is incredible. It absolutely blew me away, but it was still just another job for us members of King’s House Choir. You’ve got to give a performance, whatever and wherever you’re singing. I know this sounds corny and I’m not sure if I should mention it, but we also backed Barry Manilow live at the Royal Festival Hall – in front of a packed house, it has to be said. It’s amusing to think back because we actually stood behind him in traditional choral gowns. We got about £5 per performance so the money made it worth it. But Evita was the experience that stands out.


For almost three years, from when I was 10 to 13, the King’s House Choir was one of a small number of choirs that provided six singers for Evita. Throughout the summer, Christmas and Easter holidays we would be rotated and it worked out that I would have two or three performances each week. We were picked up in Richmond by a chaperone who drove us to the West End, sometimes with boys and girls from different schools, and after we arrived at the theatre’s stage door, we were taken to the changing rooms. It was a tight little theatre. We had to go down a set of narrow stairs and were invariably met with an explosion of activity. We ended up having to climb through a trapdoor to get to where we needed to be, and everyone we passed was wearing an amazing costume.


We were required for three different parts of the show. Our first contribution was a Latin song, then we had to do a little bit of acting in boy scouts’ uniforms and the third part was where we came on with lighted candles and sang a Spanish song. Although we were kids, as soon as we got out on that stage, we had to look as though we knew what we were doing. In those days, the mid-80s, Evita was the show in the West End and it was always packed out. I don’t remember worrying about the audience, even though you could see how many people were there. I just loved being on stage. The whole experience – being driven up to Soho, which was a fascinating place and very different from what it is today, being backstage and seeing how a musical was made to work on the night, watching everyone racing around and changing costumes in seconds but still having a laugh – I loved it.


During my years in the show, I saw both Elaine Paige and the late Stephanie Lawrence play Eva Perón, and somewhere I’ve got the autographs of people who were part of the show. Nowadays if I’m in a hotel lift or bar and ‘Don’t Cry For Me Argentina’ or ‘Another Suitcase in Another Hall’ is playing, I find myself singing it and remembering the fun we had. They were good songs from a musical that has stood the test of time.


Our fee started off at £5 for each performance and rose to £7.50 by the time I’d finished. That really added up for a young pup of around 12 years old. At the end of the summer holidays, it could be up towards £200 and that was a lot of money back then. Even though my parents could have done with it, they let me hold on to the money because I had earned it. Unfortunately, I’m not very good with cash. My attitude is that it is for spending, not saving, and the rainy day is something I can never see coming. That philosophy has stayed with me all through my life. In the early days, especially, I was prepared to have one big night as opposed to lots of little ones. When the money disappeared, that was fine. I would get on without it, although it is easier to do that when you’re young and without responsibilities.


One year we went on tour to America, which was great fun. We sang in New York City and also in Buffalo, in upstate New York. I was 12 at the time and we were fostered out in the places where we were singing, two or three of us staying together with a local family. One of the more vivid memories is arriving at one of the homes and the mum saying, ‘You must be hungry.’ She started putting on breakfast for us – pancakes served with maple syrup. Absolutely delicious. But then that was followed up with lovely steaks and then ice cream. And this was breakfast! Needless to say, I accepted everything offered and ate every morsel. I was a tall and skinny lad who looked like he needed fattening up, but it didn’t matter what I ate, I stayed skinny.


Our hosts were typical middle-class American families – nice, big houses, carport, basketball hoop, big back garden with loads of space – and all so eager to please. What else can we do for you? Anything else you would like to eat? I also remember they were genuinely warm and loving towards us. The second family I stayed with had a couple of attractive daughters and that was great because we had a lot of fun together.


The thing I most remember is the fuss they made about ‘the King’s House Choir, from Richmond, Surrey, England’. One of the places was opening a big new centre of some sort and they saw it as an honour to have us sing at the event. We were a good choir, of course, and that was down to Michael Stuckey. All the incredible experiences we had as kids in that choir came about because he knew how to teach music, and he was so well connected.





Away from school, I enjoyed a very different life. From the age of about eight, Spencer Franks, who also lived in Barnes, became a very good friend and his dad, Derek, was a sports lover. Although I played rugby and cricket in junior school, football was what I was most interested in, but through Derek Franks, I got to play more rugby and cricket outside of school. My parents worked long hours and when they weren’t working, they were often taxi-ing Francesca to and from dance classes. With Spencer’s dad providing the lifts for me, I played cricket at Thames Ditton and began to play rugby for Staines. That was my introduction to the culture of club rugby and it was a lovely, traditional place. Staines put out a lot of teams, they had a great atmosphere in the clubhouse and they represented all that was good about the game at this level. There was a smell in the bar that I think of as typical of a rugby club bar. At the time, that meant Coca-Cola and prawn cocktail crisps for me, but the older guys had their sing-songs and played their drinking games, and you could sense the camaraderie and the fun that everyone was having.


Spencer was a couple of years older than I was and a member of the team that went to mini-rugby tournaments. I had only just started but would still go to the tournaments to watch. At one competition in Guildford, Staines got to the final. Their opponents were a player short and I got to play for them. All I remember is getting thumped and Staines winning the match easily. But I soon got in the Staines team and we did well on the mini-rugby circuit. To be honest, one of the main attractions was the excitement of going somewhere without my parents. Derek Franks was a lovely man and by taking me to the Thames Ditton cricket club and the rugby in Staines, I had the opportunity to learn sports I would later play at King’s House.


The more rugby I played, the more I liked the game. At cricket, I scored a lot of runs and was presented with a couple of balls for hitting a 50 and a 100 but I’ve since thought about that and decided the bowlers mustn’t have been too hot if I was making those scores. I really wasn’t very good. I did well at sport at King’s House and, because it was a small school, I was picked for the football team when I was two, or even three, years younger than the rest of the lads and ended up scoring goals in most games.


Rugby, at that point, was an offshoot of my football and, naturally, I played fly-half. The part of the game I most looked forward to was kicking the conversions. My first time playing at Twickenham was for King’s House in one of those games where our playing area was half the width of the full-sized pitch.


Barnes Eagles was the football team I played for from the age of eight right up to the Under-14s. That was an interesting experience because it took me out of the cosy prep-school environment and put me into a team where most of the players were from the local council estates. It gave me two very different lives. King’s House was a good school, with excellent facilities, good teachers and the smaller classes you get at private schools. Most of the pupils came from sheltered middle-class and upper-middle-class backgrounds. Mum wanted me in that environment and I got on well at the school, made friends and had the usual sleepovers at mates’ houses. Back home, though, I hung out with my Barnes friends and it was a different story. Barnes isn’t exactly the roughest of areas and our flat was in a neighbourhood that was on the fringes of being lovely, but you only had to go around the corner to the local council estate to find a bit of edge, and that had its pros and cons. It was good because it showed me another side to life and made me grateful for everything that my family was giving me, but it also introduced me to kids who knew how to get into trouble, and for someone as easily led as I was, that was bound to cause difficulties.


My Barnes mates didn’t have it easy. There might be seven in a family, living in a house that was really meant for four or five. My mum always talked about there being two sides of life and she moved heaven and earth to get me into what she saw was the right side, but I couldn’t help being tempted by the other. The lives of some of my friends weren’t as scrutinised by their parents as mine was. It wasn’t that their mums didn’t care but the kids had a licence to stay out till whatever time they liked and that seemed a pretty good arrangement to me. I wanted to do the things the older boys were doing and never wanted anyone to think I wasn’t up for it. I was also curious to find out things and wanted it to happen sooner rather than later. My appreciation of what was sensible was a little distorted and, to a certain degree, that inability to say no and distinguish between what is the right thing to do and what isn’t has carried on into later life.


Similar to my school team, I got into the Barnes Eagles side earlier than some of the other guys and I played on the right wing. We were a good side and won a few trophies. Because I was a bit younger, and possibly because I went to what would have been seen as a posh school, I was bullied a little, but not in any way that caused me real stress. If a ball was kicked wide and went a long way away, I was sent to fetch it, and if any of the tougher guys needed to let off a bit of steam, I was the one who was beaten up. But I kept going back so I must have been enjoying it – the football, I mean, not the beatings.


The boys on the team and other friends I had from the council estate were into all sorts of different mischief, mostly the things that kids do – shoplifting, drinking a little, smoking, vandalising. I wasn’t a ringleader but I’d go along with whatever the other guys were doing. I was happy to be involved, whether it was going off to do a bit of nicking from shops, or to knock on people’s doors and run away, or throw stuff off buildings, or spend the evening spray-painting. We would drift off somewhere and come upon a reservoir that had lots of signs saying ‘Keep Out’, and that meant we had to climb over the wall or sneak under the fence. We were at an age and had an attitude that made everything forbidden seem attractive. Hanging out with these guys meant I talked in a different way from the average prep-school kid and it gave me an edge.


It also led to brashness and cockiness, which is not something I’m proud of and it didn’t help me much, although when I went to Ampleforth, I had a certain confidence that enabled me to deal with a new and very different environment. In a curious way, I don’t think I ever committed to either world. Part of my life was spent at King’s House with my friends there, another part of it was spent with the guys from Barnes, and yet I don’t feel I ever truly belonged in either place. It was an exciting time, I had a lot of fun but the fact is that I don’t see any of the guys from those days any more. It makes me think that I floated from one group to the other without putting any roots down in either camp. Without great difficulty, I was able to disappear from the gang who knocked around together at home while many of the others were in it for the long haul. At King’s House it was the same – friends when I wanted to be, able to head off somewhere else when I didn’t. It was lovely in a way, being all things to all people, friends with everyone, but still independent.


My parents, especially Mum, were conscious of the trouble that was likely to come from staying out late at night, and while they were prepared to let me out, they specified a time by which I had to be back. The general rule was that I had to be home before dark. Of course, I tried to push my luck and stay out, but Mum would get in the car and drive around the neighbourhood until she found me. When she did, she would embarrass the hell out of me in front of all my mates. She would drag me to the car and give all the lads a mouthful as well. All the way home, I would get continuous grief and once we got there, Dad would have his say, too. I can see it from their point of view more now – they were working incredibly hard to send me to a very expensive private school in Richmond, they were also paying for Francesca’s boarding fees at Elmhurst, even if the scholarship covered her tuition fees, and it seemed to them I was wasting the opportunities being offered to me.


Towards the end of my time at King’s House, Mum went to see the principal, David Derle, to talk to him about secondary schools that might be suitable for me. He mentioned a few but said these schools needed an overall 65 per cent in all subjects – I was on 55 per cent. The reason for that was a straightforward neglect of homework. I must have been hugely frustrating because every report said the same thing: ‘Lawrence would do really well if only he was prepared to work hard.’ There were times when things would go well and the teachers would be pleased with my work, and the school was very proud of what I did on the sports field. But there were other times when I was a pain in the neck. In the classroom I could be disruptive, at the centre of a little group who made life difficult for the teacher. I knew the trouble the Barnes guys were getting into at their school so my problems seemed pretty minor, but at a school like mine they were considered to be very serious. Mum received a number of phone calls from the principal and most of them would begin, ‘I am sorry to have to tell you, Mrs Dallaglio . . .’


My situation at home wasn’t helped by the fact that Francesca was the opposite. She had a huge workload with her dancing and her studies and managed to get excellent grades in both. Most of her dance classmates struggled to find time for the academic side but not Francesca. I used to think it was easier for her – living away from London in a boarding school meant she didn’t have to deal with alternatives to study, such as being tempted out to see your mates. It should also be said I wasn’t incredibly bright and after starting out being an average student in King’s House, I slipped a bit from there. That was totally to do with the fact that I would only do as much study as I needed to do to get by. For all the time I was there, I never really grasped the idea that the harder I worked, the easier it would become. Instead, my only desire was to enjoy school as much as possible, and I didn’t see how working really hard allowed you to do that. Of course, you get older and wonder what the hell you were thinking, but my sole aim was to do enough to make sure I wasn’t disgraced in the classroom and that no one could call me thick or stupid. While Mum’s approach was to talk to me constantly and try to persuade me to work harder, Dad would physically punish me when I stayed out later than I should or did something wrong. That led to a traditional smacking and, to Mum’s concern, it was often too severe. My reaction was to accept it as a fair punishment because I knew when I had done wrong. Also, unknown to my parents, I had already been there.


When I was younger, from when I was about six, they would sometimes leave me with another family to be looked after. If I did any little thing wrong, the father of the family would punish me by beating me up. The thing that made it different was that he used to take pleasure in hurting me. I never told my parents because I knew they would be devastated to find out they had left me with someone who was physically abusing me. He was a strong man and maybe he didn’t realise he was hurting me, but I would be screaming for him to stop and he’d just carry on. It definitely had an effect on me in that it made me tolerate being hit, to a point where I accepted it as normal. I’m not sure how else it has affected me but I imagine it has.


Throughout the days of disappointing school reports, occasional phone calls from the headmaster and Mum pulling her hair out because of her belief that I was wasting a great opportunity, Francesca was fantastic. She would tell me how hard Mum and Dad were working to send me to my school and that I really needed to work much more and appreciate what they were doing. Then, after I had left the room, she would put her arm around Mum and reassure her everything was going to turn out fine. ‘Don’t despair about Lawrence,’ she would say, ‘he’ll come good in the end, I promise you he will. He’s the kind of person who’ll be a millionaire before he’s thirty. He’s got so much going for him. It’s just a question of growing up.’
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Little Lord Fauntleroy goes north



My mother, as you may have picked up, is a strong character. When she gets an idea in her head, especially something she thinks is right, she will generally see it through. Coming from a strong East End and Irish Catholic background, she had pangs of guilt about taking me out of St Osmund’s, a state Catholic school, and sending me to a Church of England school, King’s House. Her faith is important to her. If at all possible, she wanted me to go to a Catholic secondary school and from a brief look at the possibilities, the name Ampleforth College kept cropping up. Over lunch with her friend Sonia Kennedy, who knew about these things, the question of my future was discussed.


‘Have you decided where to send Lawrence?’ asked Sonia.


‘I’m not sure yet, but one thing’s for certain – I won’t be giving up work. Vincenzo’s got promoted so things aren’t too bad but even still, I thought we might look at Ampleforth.’


‘Oh, it’s a superb school, Eileen. Although it’s far up in North Yorkshire – it’s the premier Catholic public school in England. It would be wonderful to send him there.’
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